
 
711 E. Wells Avenue  ●   Pierre, SD  57501  ●  Phone: 605-773-5770  ●  Fax: 605-773-5786  ●  http://lottery.sd.gov 

 

A Division of the South Dakota Department of Revenue  
 

 
 
To:  South Dakota Lottery Commission 
 
From:  Norman Lingle 
  Executive Director 
 
Re:  December 12, 2024, Lottery Commission Meeting 
 
Date:  December 6, 2024 
 
 
The December 12, 2024, meeting of the South Dakota Lottery Commission will begin at 9:30 
a.m. in room 412 of the State Capitol.  The meeting audio will be streamed on the South Dakota 
Public Broadcasting’s website.  A link to the audio stream is included on the agenda. 
 
A few highlights of the agenda are below. 
 
Secretary Houdyshell will provide updates regarding the Department of Revenue, and I will 
provide Executive Director comments regarding updates since the last meeting.   
 
The FY26 Instant/Online budget and the Video Lottery budget will be presented for your review 
and approval.  The Lottery is not requesting any increases to the FY25 budget authority.   
 
Nat Worley, Vice President of Lottery Sales with IGT, will present an overview of lottery sales 
across the US as well as background on the company.     
 
The agenda also includes the normal marketing, sales and video lottery reports. 
 
Please contact Clark or me if you have any questions, comments or if there is anything else you 
would like addressed during the meeting. 
 



                                                          MEETING AGENDA 

1. Welcome  Vice Chair Rozum 

2. Roll Call  Shawna Zebroski 

3. Approval of Agenda  Vice Chair Rozum 

4. Approval of Minutes – September 26, 2024 meeting  Vice Chair Rozum 

5. Conflict of Interest       Vice Chair Rozum 

6. Secretary of Revenue Comments  Mike Houdyshell, Secretary 

7. Executive Director Comments      Executive Director Norm Lingle 

8. IGT Presentation Nat Worley, VP of Sales Development 

9. FY26 Instant/Online and Video Lottery Budget Approval Accounting Manager Aric Frost 

10. Mobile Cashing Update  Dep Ex Dir Clark Hepper 

11. Sales Report                  Sales Manager David Dahl 

12. FY24 and FY25 YTD Instant/Online Performance Review   Business Analyst Nathan Remmich 

13. Marketing Report                                                                        Director of Advert and PR Wade LaRoche 

14. Video Lottery Report                                                                  Director of VL and Security Trevor Wiebe 

15. Public Comment  Vice Chair Rozum 

16. Next Meeting – TBD  Executive Director Norm Lingle 

17. Adjournment  Vice Chair Rozum 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Individuals wanting to testify before the Lottery Commission must sign the attendance sheet 

and in prefacing their remarks, state their name and the entity they represent. 
 

NOTE: This meeting is being held in a physically accessible location. Individuals needing assistance, 
pursuant to the Americans with Disabilities Act, should contact the South Dakota Lottery at 605.773.5770 in advance of the meeting to make any 

necessary arrangements in advance of the meeting to make any necessary arrangements. 

South Dakota Lottery Commission 
Thursday, Dec 12, 2024 – 9:30 a.m. 
Room 412, State Capitol, Pierre, SD 
 
*Please read all materials provided in the packet and 
print and bring the Agenda and all Exhibits 

 

Listen live at http://www.sd.net/room412/ 
 

 

Expiration Dates of Commissioner Terms 
 Tim Donohue 01/01/2025 Tona Rozum 01/01/2027
 Jason Ahrendt 01/01/2025 Steve Harding 01/01/2027 
 Joe Kafka 01/01/2026  
   

http://www.sd.net/room412/
http://www.sd.net/room412/


 

Jason Ahrendt –Chair 
Tona Rozum-Vice Chair 

Tim Donohue 
Steve Harding 

Joe Kafka 
 
 

Meeting was conducted in person 
Thursday, September 26, 2024 – 9:30 a.m. 

 

UNAPPROVED 
Chair Ahrendt called the Sept. 26, 2024, meeting of the South Dakota Lottery Commission to order at 9:30 
a.m. Commissioner Kafka attended via Microsoft Teams. 
 
The public was able to participate in person or by listening on the internet.  
 
SUPPORT STAFF PRESENT  
Norm Lingle, Clark Hepper, Ali Schaefbauer, Nick Ramos, Wade LaRoche, Trevor Wiebe, Shawna Zebroski, 
Nathan Remmich, Kirsten Jasper, and David Dahl. 
 
MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC PRESENT  
Barry Greenberg, Troy Erickson, Jason Dvorak, Matt Krogman, Matt Fickbohm, and Bob Mercer. 
 
APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA 
Chair Ahrendt asked if there were any changes to the agenda. There were none. Chair Ahrendt asked for a 
motion to approve the agenda, motioned by Commissioner Donohue, and seconded by Commissioner 
Harding.  A voice vote was taken. All in favor. Motion carried.  
 
APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES FROM THE June 13, 2024, MEETING 
Chair Ahrendt asked for a motion to approve the minutes. Commissioner Harding moved to approve the 
minutes and seconded by Commissioner Donohue. All in favor. Motion carried. 
 
CONFLICT OF INTEREST 
Chair Ahrendt asked if there were any conflicts of interest; there were none.  
 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S COMMENTS 
Executive Director Norm Lingle reported on the following:  



• The Lottery recently welcomed RJ Navarez and Jesika Penn as sales representatives our of the Rapid 
City office. 

• Both Navarez and Penn have retail experience at the Common Cents c-store chain. 
• Matt Piersall was promoted to Rapid City Sales Manager. 
• Executive Director provided unaudited figures on Fiscal Year 2024 sales and transfers. 

o Instant ticket sales were up .77 percent, transfers were up 2.65 percent. 
o On-line sales were up 3.05 percent and transfers were up 8.18 percent. 
o The State’s share of video lottery net machine income was up .37 percent, transfers were up 

.37 percent. 
o Total transfers were $183,691,691, which was a .96 percent increase over the previous fiscal 

year. 
o The General Fund should receive $179,718,265 and the Capitol Construction Fund should 

receive $3,759,426. 
• There have not been any findings in the Fiscal Year 2024 audit to this point. 

 
Administrative Rule Amendments Public Hearing 
Executive Director Norm Lingle reported the following: 

• The proposed administrative rule amendments cover: 
o Allow for mobile claims for instant and online prizes between $101 and $5,000. 
o Clarify existing duties of the executive director.  
o Adopt Mega Millions product group rules adopted by the Mult-State Lottery Association.   

• Mobile cashing would allow players to use the Lottery’s mobile app to claim prized via ACH. 
• Mobile cashing does not allow players to make purchases via their mobile devices. 
• The debt setoff checks will continue when claims are made via the mobile app. 
• This change would improve player convenience by eliminating the need to travel to claim a prize in 

many instances. 
• The proposed changes for the executive director duties allow the Lottery to be proactive and 

timelier in addressing non-compliance and violation situations. 
• This would allow the executive director to suspend a license for any violation or non-compliance. 
• This still allows for due process—violators may request a hearing in front of the commission. 
• This also clarifies that the Lottery Commission is required to meet at least quarterly. 
• The Mega Millions change updates the price point from $2 to $5 and increases starting jackpots 

from $20 million to $50 million. 
• The overall odds for the game will improve. 
• The changes also eliminate the Megaplier add on and adds a multiplier for every purchase. 
• The new game will debut on April 5, 2025. 
• Chair Ahrendt asked what would happen if we didn’t approve the Mega Millions rules. Executive 

Director Lingle noted that South Dakota could no longer continue to offer the game. 
• Commissioner Harding asked if a lot of other states offer mobile cashing. Executive Director Lingle 

noted that other states allow for higher prize claims at retail locations. 
• Commissioner Donohue asked if the Lottery will check with an attorney before revoking a license. 

Executive Director confirmed that the Lottery will work with the legal team and noted that the 
Lottery doesn’t want to revoke licenses. He said there are times when the Lottery will need to revoke 
a license, but they hope to work with licensees to avoid that. 

• Matt Krogman of the South Dakota Licensed Beverage Dealers and Gaming Association voiced 
opposition to the proposed rule amendment. 

• Krogman noted that his association has a great relationship with the Lottery, but they have concerns 
about the proposed rule giving the Lottery the ability to shut down a business immediately. 



• Krogman said he was concerned that the appeal process may take months, which would leave the 
business closed for an extended period. 

• Vice Chair Rozum noted that it was tough to leave a loophole in law, but said she wondered if the 
appeals process could be sped up in these instances. 

• Executive Director Lingle noted that the Lottery will send notification when a license is in jeopardy. If 
a licensee chooses to appeal, the appeal would be heard before the license is revoked. 

• Commissioner Kafka said that he believes this would only be used in egregious cases and wouldn’t 
be an issue. 

• Commissioner Rozum asked if there needs to be some dialogue between members of the industry 
before they move forward with it. 

• Commissioner Rozum suggested some tweaks to the language of the rule then come back with 
updated language. 

• Chair Ahrendt suggested a motion to pass the rules amendment with the exception of 48:02:04:01, 
48:02:04:02, 48:03:02:05, and 48:03:02:06. Motioned by Rozum, seconded by Donohue. 

• Motion passed 4-1. Commissioners Donohue, Harding, Rozum and Ahrendt voted yes. 
Commissioner Kafka voted no. 

 
Light & Wonder Update 
Barry Greenberg of Light & Wonder reported the following: 

• Light & Wonder has been doing business with the South Dakota Lottery for more than 30 years. 
• Light & Wonder provides the Connexus system to the South Dakota Lottery’s video lottery industry. 
• The Light & Wonder system provides the video lottery industry with an online cellular 

communication system, which has drastically cut down on non-reporting terminals. 
• The system also allows for software downloads to the site controller. 
• The new system also allows establishments to validate payout vouchers to combat fraud. 
• The new system and site controller allows SD Lottery staff to get machines up and running quickly if 

they are non-reporting. 
• Light & Wonder is also making advancements in responsible gambling and cashless functionality for 

video lottery systems. 
• Commissioner Harding asked if the validation functionality has helped with counterfeit tickets. 

Greenberg noted that there have been minimal reports of counterfeit vouchers since the new system 
went online. 

 
Mobile Cashing Update 
Deputy Executive Director Clark Hepper reported the following: 

• Mobile cashing gives players the ability to claim prizes between $101 and $5,000 via ACH. 
• This does not give players the ability to purchase tickets online and debt setoff checks will still be 

preformed for each mobile claim. 
• IGT’s software is now prepared for customer acceptance testing. 
• We are partnering with IGT and our mobile app provider, Fjorge to correct any outstanding issues. 
• We will begin our testing in October with the goal of going live November 15. 

SALES REPORT 
Sales Manager David Dahl reported on the following: 

• Instant ticket sales have decreased 5.86 percent compared to last fiscal year. 
• Lotto sales have decreased 57.31 percent compared to last year. 
• It’s important to note that last fiscal year had five jackpots that exceeded $1 billion. 
• Nationwide, instant ticket sales are down 2.4 percent.  



• The South Dakota Lottery also had a sales increase last fiscal year, while many lotteries had 
decreases. 

• The Lottery has paid more than $7 million in instant ticket prizes this fiscal year. 
• The Lottery is currently projected to have more than $179 million in revenue. 

 
FY24 Video Lottery Report 
Business Analyst Nathan Remmich reported on the following: 

• Hamlin and Sully counties showed the most growth between Fiscal Year 2024 and 2023. 
• Brookings and Watertown had the largest increases among cities. 
• Line machines continue to outperform legacy machines in Fiscal Year 2025. 
• Clark and Edmunds counties have shown the most growth to begin Fiscal Year 2025. 
• Brookings and Mitchell have seen the most growth among cities in Fiscal Year 2025. 

 
MARKETING REPORT  
Director of Advertising and Public Relations Wade LaRoche reported on the following: 

• The Lottery will launch its $10 Game of Thrones scratch ticket Sept. 30. 
• The ticket is a licensed property from Scientific Games that features themes from the TV show. 
• Marketing efforts will include paid efforts such as billboards, television, radio and more. 
• Players can enter non-winning Game of Thrones tickets into a second chance drawing. 
• One player will win a trip to Napa Valley, Cali., for a chance to win up to $7 million in cash prizes. 
• The Lottery also focused on the Mad Money family of tickets throughout its summer advertising 

efforts. 
• The Lottery is working with Lawrence & Schiller to finalize holiday campaign plans. 
• During the Lottery Day promotion, 4,119 Good Fun Bundles were purchased. 

 
VIDEO LOTTERY REPORT  
Director of Video Lottery and Security Trevor Wiebe reported on the following: 

• The Lottery has 1,394 video lottery establishments which is slightly up from last year. 
• There are just over 11,000 terminals in the field, which is up from last year. 
• The legacy machines continue to decline, while line machines are increasing. 
• Line machines average $95.42 of net machine income per day, while legacy machines average 

$60.33. 
• Eighty-two percent of video lottery terminals do not have ticket in, ticket out functionality. 
• Seventy-four percent of video lottery machines with ticket in, ticket out functionality do not have it 

turned on. 
 
Election of Lottery Commission Chair/Vice Chair 

• Chair Ahrendt noted that this is his final meeting as chair since he will be termed out. 
• He asked for nominations for chair and vice chair. 
• Commissioner Donohue nominated Commissioner Harding as Chair and Commissioner Rozum as 

Vice Chair. Seconded by Chair Ahrendt. 
• Roll call vote was taken. All in favor. 

 
PUBLIC COMMENT 
Chair Harding asked about public comments. 

• Matt Krogman of the South Dakota Licensed Beverage Dealers and Gaming Association noted 
that he expected his organization to bring legislation to the 2025 legislative session.  



• This includes increased bet limits, increased maximum payouts and increased number of 
machines allowed per license. 

 
NEXT MEETING DATE  
Executive Director Lingle stated the next quarterly meeting will be December 12, 2024. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
The meeting adjourned at 11:50 a.m.   
 
*Please listen to the audio on the South Dakota Lottery Website: https://Lottery.sd.gov/about/commission/ 
for additional details.  
 

https://lottery.sd.gov/about/commission/


Budget Actual Exp Budget Budget Budget

Request (Over)/Under Request Inc / (Dec) Request Inc / (Dec)

EMPLOYEE SALARIES 1,538,991     1,296,908     242,083          1,601,997     63,006         * 1,601,997     -             

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 454,877        392,838        62,039            465,432        10,555         * 465,432        -             

FTE 21.0               20.3 0.7                   21.0               21.0               -             

Total Personal Services 1,993,868     1,689,746     304,122          2,067,429     73,561         2,067,429     -             

TRAVEL 181,982        169,513        12,469            184,074        2,092           ** 184,074        -             

CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 59,603,208  65,073,329  (5,470,121)     59,664,475  61,267         *** 59,664,475  -             

SUPPLIES & MATERIALS 1,102,000     947,417        154,583          1,102,000     -               1,102,000     -             

CAPITAL OUTLAY 40,000          28,900          11,100            40,000          -               40,000          -             

OTHER 79,000          182,522        (103,522)         79,000          -               79,000          -             

Total Operating Expenses 61,006,190  66,401,682  (5,395,492)     61,069,549  63,359         61,069,549  -             

TOTAL INSTANT/ONLINE 63,000,058  68,091,428  (5,091,370)     63,136,978  136,920       63,136,978  -             

* Salary Policy Increase

** Travel Reimbursement Rates Increase

*** Central Services Increase-Policy Increase

Operating Expenses

Budget Summary Report
Center 0281                                                               INSTANT and ON-LINE OPERATIONS - INFO

FY2024 FY2025 FY2026

Personal Services



Budget Actual Exp Budget Budget Budget

Request (Over)/Under Request Inc / (Dec) Request Inc / (Dec)

EMPLOYEE SALARIES 740,622        634,224        106,398          771,826        31,204         * 771,826        -             

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 214,891        190,578        24,313            219,625        4,734           * 219,625        -             

FTE 10.0               9.7 0.3                   10.0               10.0               -             

Total Personal Services 955,513        824,802        130,711          991,451        35,938         991,451        -             

TRAVEL 17,941          14,779          3,162              18,454          513               ** 18,454          -             

CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 1,523,257     1,453,724     69,533            1,562,466     39,209         *** 1,562,466     -             

SUPPLIES & MATERIALS 29,616          11,782          17,834            29,616          -               29,616          -             

CAPITAL OUTLAY 180,000        8,389            171,611          180,000        -               180,000        -             

OTHER 214,000        214,000        -                   214,000        -               214,000        -             

Total Operating Expenses 1,964,814     1,702,674     262,140          2,004,536     39,722         2,004,536     -             

TOTAL VIDEO LOTTERY 2,920,327     2,527,476     392,851          2,995,987     75,660         2,995,987     -             

* Salary Policy Increase

** Travel Reimbursement Rates Increase

*** Central Services Increase-Policy Increase

Personal Services

Operating Expenses

Budget Summary Report
Center 0282                                                                                           VIDEO LOTTERY

FY2024 FY2025 FY2026



Budget Actual Exp Budget Budget Budget

Request (Over)/Under Request Inc / (Dec) Request Inc / (Dec)

EMPLOYEE SALARIES 2,279,613     1,931,132     348,481          2,373,823     94,210         * 2,373,823     -             

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 669,768        583,416        86,352            685,057        15,289         * 685,057        -             

FTE 31                  30                  1.0                   31                  31                  -             

Total Personal Services 2,949,381     2,514,548     434,833          3,058,880     109,499       3,058,880     -             

TRAVEL 199,923        184,292        15,631            202,528        2,605           ** 202,528        -             

CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 61,126,465  66,527,053  (5,400,588)     61,226,941  100,476       *** 61,226,941  -             

SUPPLIES & MATERIALS 1,131,616     959,199        172,417          1,131,616     -               1,131,616     -             

CAPITAL OUTLAY 220,000        37,289          182,711          220,000        -               220,000        -             

OTHER 293,000        396,522        (103,522)         293,000        -               293,000        -             

Total Operating Expenses 62,971,004  68,104,355  (5,133,351)     63,074,085  103,081       63,074,085  -             

TOTAL 65,920,385  70,618,903  (4,698,518)     66,132,965  212,580       66,132,965  -             

* Salary Policy Increase

** Travel Reimbursement Rates Increase

*** Central Services Increase-Policy Increase

Personal Services

Operating Expenses

Budget Summary Report
                                                                          INSTANT & ON-LINE - INFO & VIDEO LOTTERY COMBINED

FY2024 FY2025 FY2026



Sales Report



$0.0

$1.0

$2.0

$3.0

$4.0

$5.0

$6.0

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

Sa
le

s (
M

ill
io

ns
)

Instant Sales
FY23 FY24 FY25

(July 1st to November 30th)

FY25 - $19.13M
FY24 - $19.54M
FY23 - $18.99M

2.07% decrease



$0

$1

$2

$3

$4

$5

$6

$7

$8

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

Sa
le

s (
M

ill
io

ns
)

Lotto Sales
FY23 FY24 FY25

(July 1st to November 30th)

FY25 - $10.49M
FY24 - $19.62M
FY23 - $19.77M

46.55% decrease



$6.87 $7.26
$7.73

$12.53

$0

$2

$4

$6

$8

$10

$12

$14

FY 2025 Estimates FY 2024

M
ill

io
ns

Instant and Online FY25 Revenue 
Projections as of November 30, 2024

Instant Games Lotto Games



$23

$24

$25

$26

$27

$28

$29

$30

$31

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

N
et

 M
ac

hi
ne

 In
co

m
e 

(M
ill

io
ns

)
Video Lottery NMI

FY23 FY24 FY25

(July 1st to November 30th)

FY25 - $137.63M
FY24 - $135.83M
FY23 - $137.72M

1.32% increase



$165.81 $163.90

$0

$20

$40

$60

$80

$100

$120

$140

$160

$180

FY 2025 Estimates FY 2024

M
ill

io
ns

Video Lottery FY25 State Share Revenue Projection as of November 
30, 2024



$165.81 $163.90

$6.87 $7.26
$7.73 $12.53

$0

$20

$40

$60

$80

$100

$120

$140

$160

$180

$200

FY 2025 Estimates FY 2024

M
ill

io
ns

Total FY25 Revenue Projections as of November 30, 2024

Video Lottery Instant Games Lotto Games

$183.69$180.40



Video Lottery Report



1,398 

11,092 

1,363 

10,666 

 -

 2,000

 4,000

 6,000

 8,000

 10,000

 12,000

Establishments Terminals

Number of Terminals and Establishments as of December 30, 2024

FY 2025 FY 2024



3,793 3,679 3,544 

6,409 

6,987 

7,548 

 -

 1,000

 2,000

 3,000

 4,000

 5,000

 6,000

 7,000

 8,000
N

ov De
c

Ja
n

Fe
b

M
ar Ap

r

M
ay Ju
n

Ju
l F

Y2
4

Au
g

Se
p

O
ct

N
ov De

c

Ja
n

Fe
b

M
ar Ap

r

M
ay Ju
n

Ju
l F

Y2
5

Au
g

Se
p

O
ct

N
ov

Terminal Counts - Legacy vs. Line
Legacy Machines Line Machines



$64.63 $61.55 $59.64

$107.59
$99.40

$94.67

$0

$20

$40

$60

$80

$100

$120
N

ov De
c

Ja
n

Fe
b

M
ar Ap

r

M
ay Ju
n

Ju
l F

Y2
4

Au
g

Se
p

O
ct

N
ov De

c

Ja
n

Fe
b

M
ar Ap

r

M
ay Ju
n

Ju
l F

Y2
5

Au
g

Se
p

O
ct

N
ov

NMI/Terminal/Day - Legacy vs. Line
Legacy NMI per Machine per Day Line NMI per Machine per Day



728

607

131

326

225

12
0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

FY23 FY24 FY25 (YTD)

New & Destroyed Terminals
New Destroyed



1,100

1,150

1,200

1,250

1,300

1,350

1,400

1,450

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Establishments

Establishments



8,500

9,000

9,500

10,000

10,500

11,000

11,500

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Terminals

Terminals


	Commission Meeting TW.pdf
	Video Lottery Report
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7

	Commission Meeting DD.pdf
	Sales Report
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7




